RECEIVED

Jul 20 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRADLEY MARK CORLEW,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000989

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err by allowing the state to introduce inadmissible character evidence where (1) no exception found within Rule 404(b), SCRE, applied, (2) where the evidence was not necessary for presentation of the context of the charged offenses, and (3) where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the evidence?
- II. Did the trial judge err by admitting into evidence a purported medical questionnaire in which the alleged victim of sexual abuse identified Appellant as her abuser where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value and where the evidence was needlessly cumulative due to its corroborative nature of the alleged victim's trial testimony?
- III. Did the trial judge err by allowing an expert witness to describe the contents of photographs allegedly found on Appellant's phone, specifically of an erect penis, pornographic images involving bondage downloaded from the internet, and pornographic "photographs of very young women" downloaded from the internet, where the judge concluded the danger of unfair prejudice from the photographs themselves outweighed any probative value offered by the photographs?
- IV. In violation of Appellant's federal and state constitutional right to confrontation, did the trial judge err when he placed Appellant in a position in the courtroom so that two witnesses could not see Appellant when the witnesses testified, without any evidence to support the necessity of moving Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 17, 2019, a Chester County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. *(indictments). On October 27, 2020, a Chester County grand jury indicted Appellant for incest. R. *(indictment). The state, represented by Candice Lively and Kaitlyn Easler, called the case to trial before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons and a jury on August 30, 2021 – September 2, 2021. Tr. 1. William Frick and Kay Boulware represented Appellant. Tr. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Tr. 457, ll. 1-10. Judge Gibbons sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, to twenty years imprisonment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, and to ten years imprisonment for incest. Tr. 464, l. 19 – Tr. 465, l. 6; R. *(sentence sheets).

On September 7, 2021, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by allowing the state to introduce inadmissible character evidence where (1) no exception found within Rule 404(b), SCRE, applied, (2) where the evidence was not necessary for presentation of the context of the charged offenses, and (3) where the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the evidence.

Standard of review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001); State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 575 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 2003). In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000). This same standard of review applies to preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence in criminal cases. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; State v. Bowie, 360 S.C. 210, 600 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2004). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Mattison, 352 S.C. at 583, 575 S.E.2d at 855.

If there is any evidence to support the admission of bad act evidence, the trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal. State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App.

2004); State v. Pagan, 357 S.C. 132, 591 S.E.2d 646 (Ct. App. 2004). In order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the defendant. See State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 536 S.E.2d 679 (2000); see also State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 453 S.E.2d 890 (1995) (explaining that error without prejudice does not warrant reversal).

Relevant facts

On August 11, 2021, the state filed a “motion in limine for admission of *res gestae* evidence and common scheme or plan.” R. *(motion). The state moved to elicit testimony through the alleged victims in the case “of ongoing multiple acts of abuse perpetrated upon them *and their siblings*” by Appellant. R. *(motion) (emphasis added). The state also wanted to elicit testimony about “abuse inflicted upon them by the co-defendant, Sarah Lacy.” R. *(motion). According to the state, “[t]he purpose of this testimony [was] to assist the jury in understanding the context of the crimes” charged. R. *(motion). Thus, the state argued the evidence was part of the *res gestae* of the criminal charges for which Appellant stood trial. R. *(motion).

Further, the state argued the evidence was admissible pursuant to the common plan or scheme exception found within Rule 404(b), SCRE. R. *(motion). Although citing the relevant case law, the state incorrectly argued that similarities among the acts *alone* were sufficient to support admissibility. R. *(motion). The state also argued the testimony established “a logical relevance to the underlying crime(s)” to support admission. R. *(motion).

On August 11, 2021, Judge Gibbons heard argument on the state’s motion. 8/11/21 Tr. 1. The state explained there were nine children living in the home along with Appellant and Lacy. 8/11/21 Tr. 10, ll. 19-23. The state claimed that it was “a sort of lifestyle to normalize sexual behaviors between both of the defendants and their sexual activities, as well as having the children join in on the sexual activities as well.” 8/11/21 Tr. 11, ll. 1-4. According to the state, if the judge

ruled the evidence of other crimes committed by other people and against other people inadmissible, then the state would likely be unable to try the case. 8/11/21 Tr. 11, ll. 5-9 (“it would tie our hands and be almost impossible to divvy out the type of abuse that was going on with each individual child because they were often”). After recognizing the state could not show a similar pattern of abuse, the state claimed it “clearly” showed “the logical connection between the events of sexual abuse that was going on between the children at the hands of these defendants.” 8/11/21 Tr. 12, ll. 2-14. According to the state, this was “one of these particularized situations that is very unique, very specific ... in regards to how these children were systematically abused on a daily basis.” 8/11/21 Tr. 12, ll. 15-19.

Defense counsel argued that “similarity is not enough” in order for evidence of prior bad acts to constitute common plan or scheme. 8/11/21 Tr. 13, ll. 6-15. Here, all the state produced was “similarity” and failed to show any type of logical connection. 8/11/21 Tr. 13, l. 16. Further, defense counsel argued the danger of unfair prejudice outweighed the evidence’s probative value. 8/11/21 Tr. 13, ll. 17-21; 8/11/21 Tr. 15, ll. 2-4. Judge Gibbons took the matter under advisement. 8/11/21 Tr. 16, ll. 24-25.

The parties reconvened on August 18, 2021. 8/18/21 Tr. 1. The state reiterated its position that if the judge excluded the evidence of prior bad acts the state would be unable “to actually present a full picture to the jury.” 8/18/21 Tr. 3, ll. 9-15. Further, the state reiterated its argument, without explanation or the proffering of evidence, that “there [was] that logical connection” and “it would meet the requirement of clear and convincing evidence.” 8/18/21 Tr. 3, ll. 18-22.

Judge Gibbons granted the state’s request to present the evidence of prior bad acts, and importantly, noted that the defense was “protected in the record.” 8/18/21 Tr. 4, ll. 4-6. Noting that trial counsel could make a contemporaneous objection “without having to stand up every

single time something is said.” 8/18/21 Tr. 4, ll. 6-9. He explained that defense counsel could simply note his objection for the record during the trial. 8/18/21 Tr. 4, ll. 9-15.¹

Minor 1, Appellant’s biological daughter, explained that Appellant and Sarah Lacy were in a romantic relationship. Tr. 167, ll. 2-3; Tr. 167, ll. 12-17. Appellant and his five children lived in a house in Chester with Sarah and her four children. Tr. 171, ll. 11-24. Appellant worked as a truck driver while Sarah stayed home. Tr. 172, ll. 1-2; Tr. 183, ll. 19-20. Appellant would be “gone for like two days at a time” for his job as a truck driver. Tr. 203, ll. 18-22.

After explaining sexual abuse allegedly perpetrated on her by Appellant and Sarah, Minor 1 testified that the only other child in the room when these things would happen was Minor 2. Tr. 178, ll. 19-22. Minor 1 also claimed she often saw Appellant hitting Sarah. Tr. 183, ll. 1-12. She further claimed that Sarah urinated on Minor 1’s brother a few times. Tr. 184, ll. 21-24.

During her first forensic interview on September 12, 2019, Minor 1 called Sarah a “sexual and physical abuser.” State’s Exhibit #1. Minor 1 then described the sexual abuse she, Minor 2, and Minor 1’s brother suffered at the hands of Sarah. State’s Exhibit #1. According to Minor 1, Sarah had “sex stuff,” including “ding-a-lings.” State’s Exhibit #1. Sarah would stick these inside Minor 1 and make Minor 1 use them on herself. State’s Exhibit #1. Minor 1 indicated Sarah would make Minor 1 touch Sarah sexually as well – either with her hand or the ding-a-ling. State’s Exhibit #1. Minor 1 believed that Sarah sexually abused her brother because Sarah took him into a room and closed the door. State’s Exhibit #1. Minor 1 was emphatic throughout the first

¹ During the trial, when the state sought to introduce State’s Exhibit #1, which was digital media containing the first and second forensic interviews of Minor 1, defense counsel renewed his objection by stating, “Previous object as ruled upon.” Tr. 136, ll. 6-9. Similarly, defense counsel renewed his objection when the state sought to introduce State’s Exhibit #2, which was the forensic interview of Minor 2. Tr. 136, ll. 20-24. State’s Exhibits #1 and #2 are on file with this Court.

interview that Appellant did not know of this sexual abuse and he was not abusive to her or any of the children. State's Exhibit #1.

On September 25, 2019, a forensic interviewer talked to Minor 1 again. State's Exhibit #1. Minor 1 claimed she lied previously. State's Exhibit #1. According to Minor 1, she lied about Appellant; he did abuse her. State's Exhibit #1. Minor 1 explained that Sarah started sexually abusing her while Appellant was at work. State's Exhibit #1. However, Appellant subsequently joined Sarah in sexually abusing her. State's Exhibit #1.

During this second forensic interview, Minor 1 also claimed that she saw Sarah try to have sex with her brother. State's Exhibit #1. Minor 1 also believed Sarah and Appellant made her brother watch them have sex. State's Exhibit #1. When the forensic interviewer asked if she ever saw Appellant and Sarah make Minor 2 and Minor 1's brother have sex, Minor 1 claimed that once while watching a movie, she saw hands moving under covers. State's Exhibit #1.

Minor 2, Sarah Lacy's biological daughter, described being sexually abused by Appellant, but she claimed Minor 1 would leave the room prior to any abuse occurring. Tr. 218, l. 23 – Tr. 219, l. 4. The state played Minor 2's forensic interview, which covered much more ground, for the jury. State's Exhibit #2.

During her forensic interview, Minor 2 graphically described physical abuse allegedly suffered by Sarah at Appellant's hands. State's Exhibit #2. Minor 2 then described being sexually abused by Appellant. State's Exhibit #2. She claimed her mother, Sarah, tried to stop the abuse, but Appellant would hit Sarah in order to continue abusing Minor 2. State's Exhibit #2.

Minor 2 claimed Appellant forced Minor 1's brother to "do it" to Sarah. State's Exhibit #2. She further claimed that Appellant would make all the kids watch him and Sarah have sex. State's Exhibit #2. Minor 2 alleged that Appellant made her – Minor 2 – have sex with Minor 1's

brother. State's Exhibit #2. According to Minor 2, Appellant held her while she had sex with the brother. State's Exhibit #2.

Minor 2 claimed Appellant beat her brother when he urinated on himself. State's Exhibit #2. Appellant would use drop cords to beat them. State's Exhibit #2. Minor 2 even claimed two other children were forced to have sex. State's Exhibit #2.

Discussion

Common scheme or plan

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. Rule 404(a), SCRE. "Rule 404(b) prevents the State from introducing evidence of a defendant's other crimes for the purpose of proving his propensity to commit the crime for which he is currently on trial." State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020). "In any criminal case, however, evidence the defendant committed similar criminal acts has the inherent tendency to show this propensity." Id. "Proof that a defendant has been guilty of another crime equally as heinous prompts a ready acceptance of and belief in the prosecution's theory that he is guilty." Id. (internal quotation omitted). "Thus, evidence of a defendant's other crimes serves the prohibited purpose of showing he has a propensity to engage in criminal behavior." Id. In essence, evidence of other bad acts is not admissible to prove a person's guilt; however, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE; see also State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

"To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged." State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 29, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008). "Whether evidence of other distinct crimes properly falls within any of the recognized exceptions noted is often a difficult

matter to determine.” Lyle, 125 S.C. at 406, 118 S.E. at 807. “The acid test is its logical relevancy to the particular excepted purpose or purposes for which it is sought to be included.” Id. “[T]he dangerous tendency and misleading probative force of this class of evidence require that its admission should be subjected by the courts to rigid scrutiny.” Id. Judges must resolve the question of admissibility “in the light of the consideration that the inevitable tendency of such evidence is to raise a legally spurious presumption of guilt in the minds of the jurors.” Id. Therefore, “if the court does not clearly perceive the connection between the extraneous criminal transaction and the crime charged, that is, its logical relevancy, the accused should be given the benefit of the doubt, and the evidence should be rejected.” Id.

In addition, if the defendant were not convicted of the prior bad act, evidence of the conduct must be clear and convincing. Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731; State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001). “Clear and convincing evidence is that degree of proof which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established. “Such proof is intermediate, more than a mere preponderance but less than is required for proof beyond a reasonable doubt; it does not mean clear and unequivocal.” State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 24, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008).

Recently, in a trilogy of cases decided on the same day, the South Carolina Supreme Court overruled State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009) concerning evidence constituting the common plan or scheme exception found within Rule 404(b), SCRE, in criminal sexual conduct cases. State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 106-107, 844 S.E.2d 49, 53 (2020); State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654 (2020); State v. Cotton, 430 S.C. 112, 844 S.E.2d 56 (2020). In order to understand Rule 404(b), SCRE, all three decisions must be read in tandem.

The Court explained that Wallace was an outlier in the case law as it held only a close degree of similarity was necessary to establish the required connection between the prior bad act and the charged offense. Perry, 430 S.C. at 35-37, 842 S.E.2d at 660-61. According to the Court, “[t]he decision in Wallace effectively created a new rule of evidence, and rendered meaningless the restrictive application of the common scheme or plan exception that is so deeply embedded in our precedent.” Id. After overruling Wallace, the Court explained that in order for the common plan or scheme exception to apply, “the state must demonstrate to the trial court that there is in fact a scheme or plan common to both crimes, and that evidence of the other crime serves some purpose other than using the defendant’s character to show his propensity to commit the crime charged.” Id. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 664-665.

After ensuring the Bench and Bar were well aware that the logical connection test applies when determining admissibility of other crimes evidence to show common scheme or plan, the Court held evidence of prior bad acts allegedly committed by Perry were not admissible. Id. at 38, 842 S.E.2d at 661. Perry was charged with criminal sexual conduct with two of his daughters. Id. at 27, 842 S.E.2d at 655. First daughter testified that Perry first assaulted her when she was between five and seven years old. Id. She claimed that after the first incident, he would digitally penetrate her early in the morning during her weekend visitations with him. Id. She asserted the assaults often involved physical force, and that Perry threatened she would get into trouble if she told. Id. The assaults stopped when she was sixteen years old. Id. at 27, 842 S.E.2d at 656.

The second daughter claimed the sexual assaults against her started when she was about ten years old. Id. Perry would digitally penetrate her early in the morning. Id. The assaults did not involve any physical force, and they stopped when she turned twelve. Id. Perry had told her not to tell because she would get into trouble. Id. at 28, 842 S.E.2d at 656.

The state introduced the testimony of Perry’s stepdaughter ostensibly under the common plan or scheme exception within Rule 404(b), SCRE. Id. Stepdaughter testified that when she was nine-years old Perry digitally penetrated her. Id. This occurred periodically over the next four years. Id. The assaults included an incident in the bathtub. Id. She further claimed that Perry told her not tell because no one would believe her. Id. The alleged assaults against Stepdaughter occurred twenty-two to twenty-seven years prior to the offenses for which Perry stood trial. Id.

The Court held the sexual assault of Stepdaughter was “not substantially similar” to the assaults of the biological daughters. Id. at 37, 842 S.E.2d at 661. The assaults started at different ages, occurred within a different frequency, varied regarding use of physical force, and involved different forms of ensuring silence. Id. at 38, 842 S.E.2d at 661-662. The Court was unpersuaded that the dissimilarities in the girls’ ages could be made similar by describing the ages as pre-pubescent. Id. at 39, 842 S.E.2d at 662. The Court was also unpersuaded that the dissimilarity of the locations of the alleged assaults could be made similar by claiming all occurred within the home. Id. Put bluntly and succinctly, the Court held it could not be said that Perry had a “monopoly” on his criminal method simply because of the similarities present: father figure, in the home, in a bedroom, and beginning in the pre-pubescent years. Id. at 40, 842 S.E.2d at 662.

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