RECEIVED

Apr 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

BRADLEY MARK CORLEW,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000989

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721-0607
(803) 416-9336

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Likewise, if the jury found the three witnesses’ testimony credible, the jury had no reason to consider the extrinsic acts testified to by the same three witnesses since they provided extensive

testimony supporting the charged conduct. The danger of unfair prejudice in the instant case was negligible.

While Appellant selects a handful of extrinsic acts and insists without much explanation they are extremely prejudicial, any uncharged acts pale in comparison to the overwhelming evidence of guilt. There is physical evidence of sexual assault as to Sarah's daughter. Further, Daughter saw Sarah's daughter assaulted, Sarah's daughter corroborated much of Daughter's testimony, and Sarah corroborated both victims' accounts. Appellant confirmed he was aware of Sarah's sexual assaults of his own daughter, admitted to role playing with Sarah in texts discussing sexually assaulting their children, and at one point told Judd he acted as if he was alright with the abuse so Sarah would tell her about it. Any error is undoubtedly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

II.

The trial court did not err in allowing a medical questionnaire with Daughter's written answers into evidence and Appellant was not prejudiced since the objected to sentence was cumulative to the forensic interview from nineteen days earlier.

Appellant complains the trial court erred in failing to sustain Appellant's objection under Rule 403, SCRE to a questionnaire filled out by Daughter (Supp. R. 1-2) being admitted into evidence. The questionnaire was clearly probative because it contained a report of sexual abuse and was not prejudicial because Daughter provided a more detailed account of sexual abuse only three weeks earlier during her second forensic interview. Further, the "cumulative" nature of the evidence was hardly prejudicial to Appellant and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to

exclude the evidence. Therefore, the trial court did not err in allowing the questionnaire into evidence.

How the issue arose

Dr. Susan Lamb testified a nurse practitioner under Dr. Lamb's direction examined both Daughter and Sarah's daughter. Dr. Lamb explained when a person is examined for whom there are concerns of sexual assault, the first thing is to determine if there is evidence that needs to be recovered. The medical staff also gets a history from the victim "so they kind of tell you what has gone on, what has occurred, that directs where you're going to look." R. pp. 297-98 (direct quote p. 298, lines 1-3).

Dr. Lamb then discussed the questionnaire (Supp. R. pp 1-2):

So at the age of 11, you know, she is not old enough to consent to a sexual encounter. We do perform an adolescent questionnaire kind of based on if the children look like they're kind of acting more like teenagers at that time, and it does have questions about engaging in any consensual sexual activity.

R. p. 307, line 25 – p. 308, line 5. Dr. Lamb explained the teenagers are given the form to fill out by themselves in a back room, and the answers on the form are in Daughter's handwriting. R. p. 308, lines 10-22. When the prosecution moved to admit the questionnaire into evidence, defense counsel lodged an objection: "Objection to be cumulative and under 403." R. p. 309, line 2.

Dr. Lamb published that Daughter responded negatively to the question, "Have you ever had sex because you wanted to?" However, Daughter wrote underneath in a blank space, "But [I've] been sexually abused." R. p. 309, lines 15-19; Supp, R. pp 1-2. On the second page of the exhibit, question 12 asks, "Is there anything else that you would like to discuss with the provider?" Here, Daughter wrote, "[I've] been sexually abused and had sex with my dad." Supp. R. p. 2. However, this second statement was not published to the jury during trial.

For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-27, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). A trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). Determination of relevancy is largely within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion. Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 320, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71-72 (Ct. App. 2012) (*quoting State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008)). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (emphasis added) (*quoting United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada*, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir. 1989)). In determining whether the danger of unfair prejudice outweighs the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the entire record, and the

determination will turn on the facts of each case. Lyles, 665 S.E.2d at 206 (citing State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007)).

In the instant case, defense counsel failed to explain to the trial court how the questionnaire was prejudicial. It clearly was relevant because Daughter reported sexual abuse. One of the grounds upon which a trial judge may sustain an objection under Rule 403, SCRE is “considerations of . . . needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” In the instant case, the pertinent portions of Exhibit 20 are cumulative in the sense that it is more evidence Daughter reported sexual abuse, but it was not cumulative in context because it was part of Dr. Lamb’s explanation of the course of treatment for Daughter when she was under Dr. Lamb’s care for treatment of possible sexual abuse.

Despite acknowledging that the objection was limited to Rule 403, SCRE and not to hearsay, Appellant nonetheless complains Daughter’s answers constitute improper hearsay. This is a blatant attempt to backdoor an issue not presented to the trial court, but Appellant’s hearsay arguments are not preserved for review. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999) (The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial). Daughter’s report of sexual abuse falls within the parameters of Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE (allowing statement of declarant where the declarant is an alleged victim of a sexual assault and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident) – except for three words: “with my dad.”

However, “with my dad” is admissible under Rule 803(4), SCRE, because the statement was made for purposes of a medical diagnosis. The form itself makes itself clear at the top: “Please answer the questions below. What you write is PRIVATE – only people who need it to do their jobs can see it. Tell the truth. Your honest answers will help the provider who is going to see you

today.” State’s Exhibit 20. See United States v. Peneaux, 432 F.3d 882 (8th Cir. 2005) (a doctor must be able to identify physical and emotional problems that accompany child sexual abuse).

In the instant case, this was not only a report of sexual abuse, but a report of incest. As the Supreme Court of North Carolina has stated:

First, a proper diagnosis of a child’s psychological problems resulting from sexual abuse or rape will often depend on the identity of the abuser. Second, information that a child sexual abuser is a member of the patient’s household is reasonably pertinent to a course of treatment that includes removing the child from the home.

State v. Aguillo, 350 S.E.2d 76, 80 (N.C. 1986) (citing United States v. Renville, 779 F.2d 430 (8th Cir. 1985); see also, State v. Geboy, 764 N.E.2d 451, 462 (Ohio App. 2001) (“The rule does not expressly limit its scope to statements regarding the declarant’s physical or bodily condition. In fact, the rule has been interpreted as to include diagnosis and treatment of psychological injuries as well as physical ailments.”); Valmain v. State, 5 So.3d 1079, 1084 (Miss. 2009) (finding “the identity of the child’s sexual abuser was pertinent to treatment, therefore reasonably relied upon by the treating physician, although the perpetrator was not a member of the child’s household” and noting that “the paramount concern in treatment of sexual abuse is to ensure that a child is not returned to the environment that fostered, allowed, or permitted the abuse”).

Further, any error is merely cumulative to numerous statements by Daughter during the second forensic interview accusing Appellant of sexual assaults, including intercourse. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363 (2006) (finding inadmissible hearsay merely cumulative); see also State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998) (noting the Constitution requires a criminal defendant to receive a fair trial, not a perfect one). The present case does not present a scenario where a witness testifies to a declarant’s statement. Instead, in the present case, the out of court statement, Daughter’s handwritten answer to a questionnaire, was

brought to court and viewed by the jury. Its hearsay nature and its limitations of proof are patent to the jury and therefore not prejudicial even if hearsay was presented as a ground for objection. But again, the scope of Appellant's objection was based on Rule 403, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the evidence was more probative than prejudicial.

III.

Appellant did not object to testimony describing photographs found on his phone, and when the trial court later in the trial sustained his objection to the photographs being introduced into evidence, Appellant did not move to strike prior testimony or ask for further relief, therefore Appellant received the relief requested. Any error is harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Appellant complains the trial court erred in allowing testimony in contravention of Rule 403, SCRE. The problem with this argument is Appellant never made that objection. Paula Stevens from the Fort Mill Police Department used extraction software, including Cellbrite, to download the contents on Appellant's cell phone. After laying foundation for the download, the prosecution moved a flashdrive of the download into evidence. Defense counsel made the following objection: "Your Honor, yes, we would object to that. We're not sure exactly what's being moved into evidence as far as what kind of images or pictures or anything." R. p. 284, lines 1-7. Defense counsel did not explain why defense counsel did not know what was being moved into evidence. The trial court overruled defense counsel's "not sure" objection. R. p. 284, line 8. Nothing was preserved for review.

Stevens described for the jury items found on the cellbrite download: One of the items downloaded was a photograph of a man's aroused penis with a child's face visible behind the couch. Another photograph depicts an erect penis and a separate picture of a child under a similar blanket taken at the same time. There was also pornography on the phone. R. pp. 284-87. The defense did not lodge any objection to this testimony or any testimony during the remainder of Stevens' direct examination. Technical issues prevented the prosecution from publishing the photographs to the jury. R. p. 291.

After Stevens, two more witnesses testified for the State. Then prior to the State's last

witness testifying, defense counsel sought to “clarify” the “not sure” objection:

One, I want to clarify our objection yesterday. Our objection to the phone dump as we did object to yesterday was, one, we weren't entirely sure what was going to be presented. But we do object to the pictures that she does intend to introduce under 402 as irrelevant, and 403, more prejudicial than probative in this matter. It's a picture of a penis. There's allegations that he looked at pornography, and I believe she's going to talk about a child that is in one of these pictures where he is displaying his penis. To my knowledge that child is not one of the children that is a victim of the cases we are trying so that is my objection.

R. p. 366, line 23 – p. 367, line 10.

The prosecution explained the photographs were to rebut Appellant's claim during his interview “that he would never do anything in front of any children It was found on his phone, it was still saved on his phone” R. p. 368, lines 1-9. The prosecutor, in response to defense counsel's inquiry, indicated she did not intend for the jury to view the phone dump. R. p.369, lines 4-7. The trial court took the matter under advisement and allowed the proposed pictures to be marked as Court's exhibits. R. pp. 366-367. The jury never saw those pictures because the trial court later sustained defense counsel's objection under Rule 403, SCRE. Defense counsel did not make any motions to strike any previous testimony. Tr. pp. 388-89.

“Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). Following the “not sure” objection, Stevens' subsequent testimony was not timely objected to. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 632, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004) finding the objection untimely where counsel did not object after several pages of testimony). Further, defense counsel never objected to Steven's testimony on the basis of Rule 403, SCRE. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (to preserve for review an alleged error in admitting

evidence, the objection must sufficiently bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so the error may be understood by the trial judge. The party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal). The ground asserted on appeal must be supported by the objection raised at trial. State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 486, 431 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1993).

As for the pictures themselves, the trial court sustained defense counsel's subsequent objection and defense counsel asked for no further relief. Although the photographs are inexplicably designated for the record on appeal by opposing counsel, the jury never saw the photographs. State v. Primus, 341 S.C. 592, 535 S.E.2d 152 (Ct. App. 2000) (where an appellant objects and the objection is sustained but he fails to move for a curative instruction or request a mistrial, he has received what he asked for and cannot be heard to complain on appeal) *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 349 S.C. 576, 564 S.E.2d 103 (2002); State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (holding where one party obtains from the trial court the only relief sought, this Court has no issue to review on appeal).

Since the jury never saw the content of the download, defense counsel's objections to the photographs were sustained, defense counsel never interposed an objection to Stevens' description of the photographs, and defense counsel never sought to strike the testimony, the trial court did not err and the issue is not preserved for review. The purported error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) (Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial).

IV.

The record fails to support Appellant's claim that Appellant was seated where the victims were completely unable to see him, and nonetheless Appellant's counsel acquiesced in Appellant's final seating arrangement.

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